FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 11/13/2017 1:26 PM



No.			
110.			

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 75463-7-I Court of Appeals, Division I

CITY OF REDMOND,

Respondent,

VS.

UNION SHARES LLC,

Petitioner,

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Charles A. Klinge, WSBA # 26093 Attorney for Petitioner Union Shares LLC

STEPHENS & KLINGE LLP 10900 NE 8th Street, Suite 1325 Bellevue, WA 98004

Telephone: (425) 453-6206

I.		IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND COURT OF APPEALS ECISION
II.	IS	SUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
III.	SI	TATEMENT OF THE CASE
IV.	A)	RGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED
	A.	Whether Economic Development Satisfies the Public Use Clause is a Constitutional Issue of Substantial Public Interest
	В.	This Court Should Review Whether View Enhancement Alone with No New Public Access Created Qualifies as a "Public Park" Pursuant To The Limited Authority to Condemn Property Outside the City Limits
V.	C	ONCLUSION19

APPENDICES

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Cascade Sewer Dist. v. King County,
56 Wn. App. 446 (1989)
City of Blaine v. Feldstein,
129 Wn. App. 73 (2005)
City of Des Moines v. Hemenway,
73 Wn.2d 130 (1968)
Cowlitz County v. Martin,
142 Wn. App. 860 (2008)
Hogue v. Port of Seattle,
54 Wn.2d 799 (1959)
HTK Mgmt., L.L.C. v. Seattle Popular Monorail,
155 Wn. 2d 612 (2005)
In re City of Kent,
1 Wn. App. 737 (1969)
In re City of Seattle,
96 Wn.2d 616 (1981)
In re City of Seattle,
104 Wn.2d 621 (1985)
In re Petition of City of Long Beach,
119 Wn. App. 628 (2004)
Kelo v. City of New London,
545 U.S. 469 (2005)
Manufactured Housing Communities of Washington v. State,
142 Wn.2d 347 (2000)
Public Util. Dist. No. 2 v. N. Am. Foreign Trade Zone Indus., LLC,
159 Wn.2d 555 (2007)
State ex rel. Washington State Convention & Trade Ctr. v. Evans,
136 Wn.2d 811 (1998)
130 77 11.24 011 (1990)
Constitution and Statutes
Wa. Const. art. I, § 16
U.S. Const. amend. V
RCW 8.12.030
RCW 8.25.075

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner and condemnee Union Shares LLC (Union Shares) seeks review of the decision of Division One of Court of Appeals, entered on July 31, 2017 ("Slip Op."). A copy of the decision is attached hereto as Appendix A. A timely motion for reconsideration was filed and, after requesting and receiving a response from the City of Redmond, the Court of Appeals denied the motion on October 12, 2017 (Appendix B).

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Economic Development as Public Use in Condemnation.

The City of Redmond seeks to take the unprecedented action of rerouting a stream from six industrial properties onto Union Shares' property. The City Council Ordinance avowed that the project will promote "economic redevelopment of those properties *currently* encumbered by the stream by relocating the stream to the properties to be condemned." In furtherance of this private purpose, the City responded to the six industrial property owners' demands for economic benefits by creating the Owner Participation Alternative which requires the City to pay for design and permitting to authorize redevelopment of the private properties. The private owners have jointly, with the City, signed the

¹ Ex. 7 at 1 (emphasis added).

federal, state and county permit applications for that purpose. Despite the City's purposeful efforts to benefit six specific private owners, the Court of Appeals held that the Public Use Clause was not violated because the private economic benefits were not inseparable from the project's public purpose, and were otherwise incidental. This holding conflicts with decisions of this Court and presents a Constitutional issue of significant public interest, thus warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4).

2. Condemnation for View Enhancement Outside City Limits.

RCW 8.12.030 restricts city authority to condemn land outside city limits; stream relocation is not one of the authorized reasons. After filing the condemnation action, the City packaged the stream relocation project as a "public park" to comply with RCW 8.12.030. Yet, no public access is afforded to the condemned land for environmental purposes. Hence, the City relied solely on "enhanced viewing opportunities" from an existing public trail as constituting a "public park" under RCW 8.12.030. Despite no new public recreational access being created, the Court of Appeals held that the project was a "public park," and thus opened the door to condemnations of land far from city limits based solely on view enhancement. This holding conflicts with published decisions of the Court of Appeals and this Court's decisions, and presents an issue of significant public interest warranting review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Union Shares LLC owns land in unincorporated King County just outside the eastern city of limit of the City of Redmond. Ex. 24. Evans Creek is southwest off site of Union Shares' property and travels through six private industrial properties within the City limits. An existing public trail crosses the southwest corner of Union Shares' property within an existing easement area of five acres. Union Shares granted the trail easement to the City in 2000 limited, "solely for recreational multi-use trail purposes," and not for a stream. Ex. 13 at § 1.

The Evans Creek Relocation Project was initially considered in a 2005 preliminary feasibility study. Ex. 2. The study emphasized two goals: (1) environmental enhancement; and, (2) increased development potential for the private industrial properties. Specifically, after describing the environmental benefits, the Conclusion states:

Relocating the creek further away from the current developed industrial and business sites will provide increased potential for further development and/or re-development while at the same time providing the required stream buffer areas. . . . Over the long term, the environmental and economic (development) benefits should outweigh the monetary costs.

Ex. 2 at 5 (emphasis added). The Project is estimated to cost between \$6.3 and \$7.6 million (Ex. 5), thus the financial benefit to the industrial property owners is expected to be in the millions.

In 2012, the Redmond City Council adopted Ordinance No. 2654 authorizing condemnation of Union Shares' property rights for the stream relocation. Ex. 7. The Ordinance specifically based condemnation on economic redevelopment benefits to the private industrial properties:

WHEREAS, the plans to construct and relocate the stream channel and the associated improvements will also encourage economic redevelopment of those properties currently encumbered by the stream by relocating the stream to the properties to be condemned.

Ex. 7 at 1 (emphasis added). Thus, private redevelopment of properties "encumbered by the stream" is furthered, not just by relocating the stream, but "by relocating the stream *to the properties to be condemned*." The burden is transferred to Union Shares' property—the private benefit is *directly tied* to the environmental interest achieved in relocating the stream.

Importantly, the record reflects no recognition by the City Council that Union Shares' property was outside the city limits *and reflects no discussion about whether the City even had condemnation authority* as a public park or otherwise. *See* Exs. 16, 17, 18, 19. Union Shares sought postponement of the condemnation action. Ex. 19 at 2-3, 9:15-17. Staff basically said that the condemnation Ordinance was necessary to give the City leverage in the negotiations. Ex. 19 at 4:3-7, 4:21-25, 8:3-9. Council Member Myers shut down all further discussion:

MR. MYERS: I guess what this motion really does is tells us how the story is going to end. And the story is going to end with the City of Redmond owning this property.

Ex. 19 at 10:8-13 (emphasis added). With that statement, the discussion ended and the Council voted to adopt the Ordinance without ever discussing condemnation authority for public park or otherwise. *Id.* at 11. Later, the City Council approved a consultant agreement to spend over \$900,000 to complete preliminary design and permitting, specifically stating that the Project would: "Allow for potential redevelopment of adjacent industrial properties." Ex. 20 at 1, 3 and Att. B at Ex. A at 9.

The City needed support from the six industrial property owners.

But, in seeking that consent, the project morphed far beyond public environmental benefits into a specific effort to grant those six property owners approval to redevelop their properties. Union Shares' expert at trial provided unrebutted testimony that *targeting benefits* to six specific property owners was not even "economic development" as that is understood as an open public program achieving broad goals. 1 RP 126:6-16, 143:8-14. Tellingly, this scheme was not discussed in public, but rather the City staff and consultant orchestrated *secret meetings* solely with the industrial property owners—no meeting invitations were sent to the public, environmental organizations, state or federal agencies, and not to other property owners such as Union Shares. 1 RP 135-140, Ex. 21.

City staff pitched the private benefits of moving the stream, and the possibility of future redevelopment. See, e.g., Ex. 21 at 4 ("Key

Messages" "free up industrial land where the creek is currently located for future development") But, the industrial property owners wanted more—they wanted approval to fill the old channel and use it for redevelopment, and they made a sustained effort to achieve that result. Ex. 21 at 9-35. The City specifically accommodated that request with the Owner Participation Alternative (Ex. 8 at 9 and Fig. 4) in which the City would sponsor the project and pay for the State and Federal permitting, at a cost of \$900,000, that would authorize moving the stream *and authorize filling the old channel*. The property owners would obtain approval for redevelopment of their properties free of stream impacts by bearing the minor cost of filling the old channel under City fill permits. The property owners agreed and joined the City by signing the federal, state and county permit applications. 1 RP 34:4-25 to 35:1-10. City staff said that the permits would be "very challenging," *i.e.* near impossible, for the property owners to obtain *on their own*. Ex. 21 at 33.

In an official letter, the City summed up the two purposes of the project and that approval to fill the old channel would be under the umbrella of the City's State and Federal permits:

While the primary motivation to relocate Evans Creek out of the industrial area into adjacent open space is to restore in-stream habitat for salmon, the project has broad support because it also benefits the industrial properties by creating the opportunity to fill the old stream channel and consolidate industrial uses away

from the new stream channel. Filling the old stream channel will reduce Critical Areas buffers that impact potential redevelopment of your property. As discussed at meetings in February and June, the City is providing the opportunity for each industrial property owner to participate under the umbrella of the City's State and Federal permits. Prior to commencing work, each property would also need to secure a city Clear and Grade permit. While permitting and channel fill may involve some up-front cost to each owner it could increase the value of the property.

Ex. 34. The City's own witness confirmed that this paragraph was a correct summary of the purpose of the project. 1 RP 74:5-3.

The City waited until the industrial property owners had consented to the Owner Participation Alternative, and then filed the Petition for Condemnation. CP 1-13. A two-day testimonial hearing was held. 1 RP 1-171, 2 RP 172-296, CP 320-323 (Exhibits), CP 324 (Witness record). The trial court ruled orally and subsequently entered a written decision which incorporated the findings in the oral ruling. CP 325-357.

It was only in the litigation that the City sought to justify the condemnation by declaring that Evans Creek Relocation Project was actually a "public park" project under RCW 8.12.030. The City relied entirely on new "passive recreational opportunities" created by viewing the relocated stream from the existing trail, *i.e.* view enhancement. CP 44-45 at ¶ 7, ¶ 10; 1 RP 26:8-17. The key point is that the project is adding no public parkland in the traditional sense—*public use and activity will be confined to the existing trail*. The public will not be free to traverse the condemned 10.8

acre area—that area is completely set aside, not for public park purposes, but for the stream and buffer plantings. 1 RP 43:18-22. The trial court followed the City's contention that *view enhancement from the existing trail* is sufficient to meet the "public park" activity in the statute. CP 335:15-19.

On appeal, the Court of Appeals affirmed (Slip Op., App. A), and then denied the motion for reconsideration terminating review. App. B.

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

A. Whether Economic Development Satisfies the Public Use Clause is a Constitutional Issue of Substantial Public Interest

In 2005, the United States Supreme Court's 5-4 decision in *Kelo v*. *City of New London*² declared that economic development, or redevelopment, was consistent with the Public Use Clause of the Fifth Amendment.³ The *Kelo* dissent decried the ruling, stating that: "[A] law that takes property from A and gives it to B: It is against all reason and justice." The dissent was blunt in its denunciation of the majority:

Today the Court abandons this long-held, basic limitation on government power. Under the banner of economic development, all private property is now vulnerable to being taken and transferred to another private owner.

545 U.S. at 494. The ruling sent shock waves throughout the country and

² 545 U.S. 469 (2005).

³ U.S. Const. amend. V; see also Wa. Const. art. I, § 16

⁴ 545 U.S. at 494 (O'Connor, dissent) (quoting Justice Chace in Calder v. Bull, 3 Dall. 386, 388 (1798).

a respected university poll showed 89% of Americans opposed the *Kelo* decision.⁵ Yet, in this State, many esteemed commentators, including Hugh Spitzer, initially proclaimed no concern arguing that this Court prohibits condemnation for economic purposes, so "the *Kelo* decision will have little or no effect on condemnations in this state." However, the Attorney General's Eminent Domain Task Force addressed the "mixed results" by Washington courts interpreting the Public Use Clause limitation: "The Task Force believes that the existing law in Washington does not adequately protect individuals from the use of eminent domain for economic development purposes." A 2010 study found that condemnation for economic development was a massive problem in Washington State affecting 48,000 residents in the prior 10 years who were threatened with, or subject to, condemnation by government seeking to transfer property to private developers with the result, "to generate profits for developers, while increasing tax revenues for local officials."

⁵ Jeanette M. Petersen, "When Government Takes Your Home: Eminent Domain Abuse and Washington's Community Renewal Law" at 1 (Washington Policy Center & Institute for Justice Washington Chapter Policy Brief, January 2010), available at: https://www.washingtonpolicy.org/library/docLib/Jan._2010_EminentDomainPB.pdf ⁶ Municipal Research and Services Center, "The Kelo Decision and Condemnation for

⁶ Municipal Research and Services Center, "The Kelo Decision and Condemnation for Economic Development" (Modified May 11, 2016) (citing Hugh Spitzer) available at: http://mrsc.org/Home/Explore-Topics/Legal/General-Government/Eminent-Domain/The-Kelo-Decision-and-Condemnation-for-Economic-De.aspx

⁷ Attorney General of Washington, "Eminent Domain Task Force: 2009 Final Report" at 17, available at: http://mrsc.org/getmedia/6def4121-212e-4efa-9f3d-c4fdd22aa023/w3edtf.pdf.aspx

⁸ Jeanette M. Peterson, supra at 2.

Another example was the City of Seattle's 2013 condemnation of a parking lot owned by 103-year-old Myrtle Woldson merely to operate its own parking lot, but with plans for future private development.⁹

The Municipal Research and Services Center summed up the public concern and lack of resolution:

Following the *Kelo* decision and in response to public concern, the state legislature has in each year introduced bills to reaffirm that the state constitution does not authorize condemnation for economic development purposes or to otherwise address concerns about the impact of *Kelo*. To date, and for whatever reasons, no such legislation has been enacted.¹⁰

For example, earlier this year, the Legislature considered SB 5445 which, like previous bills, sought to declare unequivocally that: "No public entity may take property for the purpose of economic development." Sec. 2. The Bill passed the Senate the last two years (SB 5363 in 2016, vote 30-19) with "do pass" Majority recommendations from the House Committee on Judiciary, but the Bills did not make it to the floor of the House either year.

Subsequent to *Kelo*, this Court has never addressed whether economic development is a sufficient ground for condemnation under the Public Use Clause. The *Kelo* case was discussed by this Court in

⁹ Marc Stiles, City of Seattle plays Darth Vader in property fight with elderly woman, Puget Sound Business Journal, Oct. 18, 2013.

¹⁰ Municipal Research and Services Center, *supra* at 2.

two cases, but in each case the majority of the Court determined that *Kelo* was inapposite—economic development was not at issue.

The first case was the Seattle Monorail case. *HTK Mgmt.*, *L.L.C. v. Seattle Popular Monorail Authority*, 155 Wn. 2d 612 (2005). The majority found that the monorail, as a public transportation use, was clearly a valid public use (*id.* at 630) bearing "no resemblance" to the use considered in *Kelo*. *Id.* at 616, fn. 1. Otherwise, the majority held that the scope of property to be condemned goes to necessity (the third prong), not public use (the first prong). Yet, the dissent invoked *Kelo*, and argued that the majority was failing to protect citizens from eminent domain abuses. *Id.* at 639-640 (J.M. Johnson, J., dissent).

The second case was *Pub. Util. Dist. No. 2 of Grant Cty. v. N.*Am. Foreign Trade Zone Indus., LLC (NAFTZI), 159 Wn. 2d 555

(2007). The majority concluded that the public utility's generation of electric power was a public use, and that any private benefit in potentially reselling the generators was "incidental to the public use."

Id. at 185-186. The dissent again invoked Kelo to argue that the majority opinion was following Kelo in finding economic development an adequate public use, and was not respecting the "more protective provisions of the Washington Constitution" requiring a contrary result.

Id. at 605 (J.M. Johnson, J., dissent).

The extreme nature of this case demands review. The United States Supreme Court majority in *Kelo* approved the city's general economic development plan because it did not "benefit a particular class of identifiable individuals." 545 U.S. at 478. The majority said: "It is, of course, difficult to accuse the government of having taken A's property to benefit the private interests of B when the identity of B was unknown." *Id.* at 478 fn. 6. Here, Union Shares' property rights are being transferred to six identified property owners contrary to the *Kelo* majority. The transfer to the industrial property owners in which only they "can freely use" the rights, and not the public, is akin to the violation found by this Court in *Manufactured Housing Communities of Washington v. State*, 142 Wn.2d 347, 373 (2000) (statutory right of first refusal granted to mobile home tenants, and taken from landlords, improperly benefitted private interests).

This Court has not taken up the Public Use Clause in any case since the *NAFTZI* decision, and has not addressed the issue in a condemnation case since 1998 in *State ex rel. Washington State*Convention & Trade Ctr. v. Evans, 136 Wn.2d 811 (1998)

(Convention Center). Yet, as described above, the issue remains an ongoing issue and an important public concern that will continue to affect the State for decades to come.

The Court of Appeals in this case essentially applied the exceedingly broad standard in *Kelo*, or went beyond *Kelo*, in authorizing the City's purposeful targeting of economic development benefits to six identified industrial property owners as acceptable under the Public Use Clause. The Court of Appeals went so far as to base its conclusion on Union Shares' failure to prove that benefitting the industrial property owners was *the City's only purpose of the project*. Slip Op. at 7. But, that is not the law according to this Court.

This Court has expressly determined that improperly combining public and private purposes can violate the Public Use Clause when either:

(1) the private purpose is not incidental to the project; or, (2) the public and private uses cannot be separated. *In re City of Seattle*, 96 Wn.2d 616, 627 (1981) (*Westlake I*) (public park purposes cannot be separated from private retail uses); *In re City of Seattle*, 104 Wn.2d 621 (1985) (*Westlake II*) (incidental private benefits to retail not a violation); *Convention Center*, 136 Wn.2d 811, 817 (incidental private benefits not a violation and private benefits are separate); *see also Manufactured Housing*, 142 Wn.2d 347, 370-374 (public benefit does not constitute public use in inverse condemnation case). Thus, the rule in this Court's precedents is that the Public Use Clause is violated where private interests are benefitted as *a primary purpose* of a project in a manner that the private purpose is

not incidental or the private purpose is inseparable from the public purpose. *Convention Center*, 136 Wn.2d at 819 ("unlike *Westlake [I]*, the retail development in this case is not *a primary purpose* of the project"). The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's precedents by requiring private benefits as *the only purpose* before a violation of the Public Use Clause is found.

The Court of Appeals also went astray here in concluding the private purposes are separable from the public purposes. This Court made it clear in *Westlake I* that intertwining the public purpose (park) and private purpose (retail) was a violation of the Public Use Clause. 96 Wn.2d 616. Then, when the City of Seattle excised the private retail uses from the project to focus on the park only, this Court held in *Westlake II* that the Public Use Clause was *not* violated because any private benefits were incidental. Here, the Court of Appeals concluded that the private purpose could be separated based on a hypothetical fact that does not exist—that the City and industrial property might not continue to be so bound in the future. But, the undisputed fact is that *they are bound now*—the six industrial property owners have signed the permit applications and have agreed with the City to pursue the Owner Participation Alternative. The private benefits have not been removed from the project unlike the

improperly follows Westlake II to find the private benefits separable.

The Supreme Court has not substantively reviewed the scope of the Public Use Clause in a condemnation case since *Convention Center* in 1998—going on 20 years and before the *Kelo* decision. The lack of decisions by this Court for two decades has caused the Court's decisions on Public Use to lose precedential strength in the lower courts. This case provides the opportunity to again address the Public Use Clause, and in particular to address *Kelo* and the extent to which "economic redevelopment" supports condemnation.

B. This Court Should Review Whether View Enhancement Alone with No New Public Access Created Qualifies as a "Public Park" Pursuant To The Limited Authority to Condemn Property Outside the City Limits

The City Council assumed that it had condemnation authority and expressed no recognition that the Union Shares' property was outside the city limits where its power was limited. Recall that the City Council was interested only in one thing—"how the story is going to end": "And the story is going to end with the City of Redmond owning this property." Ex. 19 at 10:8-13 (emphasis added). In this litigation, the City was forced to spin the facts to make it sound like the City is building a public park when it is not. The Evans Creek Relocation Project is intended to improve stream habitat

and benefit the private industrial property owners. State law provides no authority to condemn land outside the city limits for such a project.

The Court of Appeals analysis avoids discussing the key issue—it is undisputed that the condemnation area—the stream and mitigation plantings—will be off limits to public access. The Court of Appeals' ruling that the condemnation is for a public park under RCW 8.12.030 is solely based on view enhancement with no addition of public recreational access. The Court of Appeals' ruling is summed up by the following:

By moving the Creek and riparian habitat closer to the [existing] trail, the users will have greater opportunities to observe and experience the natural surroundings. The trial court correctly concluded the proposed use was a park use.

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