FILED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
12/13/2017 11:58 AM  
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON  
CLERK

No. 95221-3

SUPREME COURT,  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

CITY OF REDMOND,,

Respondent,

v.

UNION SHARES LLC,,

Appellant.

---

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

---

Greg A. Rubstello, WSBA #6271  
Attorneys for Respondent City of Redmond  
OGDEN MURPHY WALLACE, PLLC  
901 5th Ave, Suite 3500  
Seattle, WA 98164  
Tel: 206-447-7000/Fax: 206-447-0215

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

**D. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

None of the listed “considerations governing acceptance of review in RAP 13.4 are applicable to the Union Shares motion for discretionary review. There is no constitutional issue of substantial public interest arising from the proposed stream relocation project as argued by Union Shares. The potential for the redevelopment of the industrial sites over which Evans Creek currently passes is a consequence of the project, not the purpose behind or the reason for the project. For these reasons review should be denied.

The purposes for the Evans Creek Relocation Project are to improve the stream environment and a segment of the East Redmond Park Corridor. These are public purposes for which Redmond is authorized to condemn property for public use. No private use of the property rights over Union Shares property being condemned will result from the project. The potential for the redevelopment of the six industrial lots over which Evans Creek currently passes is at best a by-product of the stream relocation, not a purpose driving the project. Independent of the city project, those private property owners will have to obtain at their own expense from the City, fill permits to fill the vacated stream channel and dedicate land for additional stream buffer for the relocated Evans Creek as environmental mitigation, to

satisfy the conditions for the fill permits. The project will happen with or without the fill of the vacated stream channel by the six industrial property owners.

No reported decision in this state has found public purpose to be defeated by private benefit where the property to be condemned will remain in public use and ownership after the condemnation. Recent decisions of the Supreme Court have also upheld the determination of public use where the private benefit is incidental or can be separated from the project.

Redmond, the public entity proposing the Evans Creek Relocation Project, is a Title 35.A optional municipal code city whose authority to condemn for public use includes the condemnation authority of any class city and is circumscribed only by express statutory limitation or restriction. RCW 35.23.311 expressly authorizes condemnation for, “*the purpose of widening, straightening or diverting the channels of streams*” without restriction of city boundaries. Authorization for condemnation for *public park* purposes outside the city limits is expressly authorized by RCW 8.12.030. The same statute authorizes condemnation for *public purposes* without restriction of city boundaries.

The court of appeals did not publish its decision in the instant case because the decision did not make new law. There is no significant issue

affecting the state or federal constitutions or of state significance to be decided. *Kelo v. City of New London*, 545 U.S. 469 (2005) has no resemblance to the instant case factually. The extent to which economic development is a public purpose authorizing a municipal condemnation is not at issue in this case. The Court of Appeals correctly noted in its decision that economic development was not the only purpose of the project as was the case in *Kelo*. Slip Op. at 7. Economic development is not the purpose of the Evans Creek Relocation Project, only a possible side benefit of the project that encourages support for the project from the land owners over which the stream currently passes.

The motion for discretionary review should be denied.

**E. ARGUMENT**

The trial court made a considered and reasoned determination of public use. See the Trial Court's written decision (CP-325-357) attached hereto as an Appendix. The trial court correctly found that the participation of the industrial property owners in the project was separable from the project and a consequence not the purpose for the project. The trial court determined *State Ex Rel. WSCTC v. Evans*, 136 Wn.2d 811, 966 P.2d 1252 (1998) to be most factually on point and dispositive on the issue of public use. CP at 337. The trial court further found that the express language of

RCW 8.12.030 allowed Redmond to condemn and damage land outside its border for public parks and that the recreational purposes for the project identified in the record supported a finding that the project's purpose of improving a trail and to expand a stream that flows through an existing park into another stream does so in a way that meets with the public parks language of the statute. CP 336. The case most on point on the park issue is *In re Condemnation of Property for Improvement of Discovery Trail (aka In re Petition of the City of Long Beach)*, 119 Wn. App. 628, 82 P.3d 259 (2004). CP 333. The Court of Appeals affirmed these decisions of the trial court. As noted by the Court of Appeals, an appellate court will affirm the decision of a trial court on a determination of public use and necessity supported by substantial evidence. *City of Blaine v. Feldstein*, 129 Wn.App. 73, 79, 117 P.3d 1169 (2005). Union Shares fails to demonstrate that the decision of the trial court affirmed by the court of appeals is not supported by substantial evidence.

Union Shares mistakenly relies upon the signatures of the industrial property owners on the permit applications to the state and federal environmental regulatory agencies whose approval is necessary for the Evans Creek Relocation Project to go forward in support of its argument. Furthermore, the argument<sup>5</sup> made by Union Shares that the recreational and

environmental improvements to be accomplished by the project do not constitute park improvements because the public will not be able to physically access the stream, buffer and wetland areas improved by the project outside of the improved recreational trail, is not supported by fact, logic or any evidence in the record.

1. Any private benefit is separate and incidental to the project purposes.

Substantial evidence supports the trial courts finding of public use affirmed by the Opinion of this court. “That the City [Respondent Redmond] would go forward with the Project without benefiting the private industrial property owners” – is not a “hypothetical fact” – “unsupported” by the record as argued by Appellant.<sup>5</sup> The fact that “[T]he City is paying \$900,000 for all the study and engineering work necessary to apply for the umbrella State and Federal permits...” is not a “massive private benefit” to the industrial property owners. The expenditure is for the entire Stream Relocation Project.<sup>6</sup> It is not payment for the fill permit the industrial property owners will ultimately need from the City to fill the existing channel. Moreover, the Project costs paid by the City are no benefit at all to the industrial property owners if they do not go forward with obtaining the

---

<sup>5</sup> Testimony of Haley at RP 20:7-17, 22:7-20 and 35:11-25.

<sup>6</sup> See testimony of Dane at RP 245-247.

{GAR1650121.DOCX;1/00020.175065/ }

City fill permit and comply with City fill permit conditions which will include the dedication of land for increased wetland buffers. The participation of the industrial property owners is unnecessary for the Project improvements to be completed by the City on the Appellant's land to be acquired by this action in eminent domain. Private participation as envisioned in the *Owner Participation Alternative* is not essential to the City's relocation of Evans Creek. The Creek will be relocated regardless their participation.<sup>7</sup>

The rerouting of Evans Creek around the industrial properties and through Appellant's property is a Project certainty. The selected route of the new stream channel will go forward, with or without the industrial property owner's participation.<sup>8</sup> If the PIPOs decide not to dedicate land and obtain a fill permit from the City they receive absolutely zero benefit from the umbrella permits obtained by the City. The industrial property owners only benefit from the umbrella permit if they go forward with filling the abandoned stream channel.

Substantial evidence exists in the record supporting that the Project is for a public use separate from the industrial property owner's potential

---

<sup>7</sup> RP 244:23-247:14.

<sup>8</sup> *Id.*

{GAR1650121.DOCX;1/00020.175065/ }

for fill of the existing stream channel. Private fill of the abandoned stream channel is separable and incidental to the public project.<sup>9</sup> Moreover, the property rights acquired by the City from this action in eminent domain will not be used by the Appellants. There is no transfer of property rights to be acquired by the City from Union Shares to the industrial property owners. The facts before the U.S. Supreme Court in *Kelo* have no resemblance to this case. *Kelo* was not cited nor relied upon by either the trial court or the Court of Appeals in their decisions.

Union Shares is wrong. This case does not provide the opportunity or even any need for this Court to address the Public Use Clause or to address *Kelo* and the extent to which “economic redevelopment “ supports condemnation in Washington State.

---

<sup>9</sup> RP 244:23-247:14.  
{GAR1650121.DOCX;1/00020.175065/ }

2. The Project improvements to the recreational trail and the new passive recreational opportunities from the stream relocation, planted buffers, and wetland plantings are public park improvements authorized outside the city limits by RCW 8.12.030.

There is no factual dispute that the Project includes physical enhancements to the existing “recreational trail” for viewing of the enhanced stream, natural environment and wildlife.

Appellant is critical of the Opinion because it fails to acknowledge that the Project creates no “new” public recreational access because the recreational trail will remain where currently located. Appellant argues that the trail enhancements and habitat improvements included in the Project does not make for a public park property as did the recreational trail at issue in *In re Petition of City of Long Beach*, supra. Appellant’s argument is wholly unsupported by any authority or by reasonable conclusion. The new viewing areas at the new bridge locations along the recreational trail at stream crossings provide views of Evans Creek. The Creek is currently not visible from the recreational trail. The stream buffer and wetland enhancements and restoration work will provide opportunities for wildlife viewing and views of natural scenery not currently available to for trail users.<sup>10</sup>

---

<sup>10</sup> RP 85:25-86:20; 89:2-10.  
{GAR1650121.DOCX;1/00020.175065/ }

The Evans Creek Relocation Project will new passive recreational experiences for the users of the existing recreational trail. Trail users will be able to view and experience Evans Creek for the first time. The flood plain area over which the recreational trail passes, currently overgrown with non-native vegetation, will be restored with native plantings benefiting birds and other wildlife. The public via the recreational trail will have access to view the restored natural environment. Union Shares argument that “increased passive recreation” from the recreational trail without physical public access to the entire 10.8 acre easement area will not qualify as a “public park” under the statute is meritless. The argument is nothing more than the unsubstantiated opinion of Union Shares.

*In re Petition of City of Long Beach*, is not distinguishable as argued by the Union Shares. Whether not a recreational trail from which the public will be aesthetically and recreationally benefited will be newly constructed (*Long Beach*) or enhanced (the Evans Creek project) results in a park property improvements either way. The public will benefit recreationally from the improvements. The existing recreational trail provides active recreation for runners, cyclists and walkers. The enhanced trail will provide

new passive recreational opportunities.<sup>11</sup> The trail, as found by the trial court, will provide access to passive recreational opportunities.<sup>12</sup>

Both the trial court and the Court of Appeals correctly interpreted and applied Washington law in determining that the public park purposes of the project support the condemnation outside the City boarder. There is no need for this court to further review this determination under any of the standards for review in RAP 13.4.

**F. CONCLUSION**